
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

Schools Forum
Agenda

Tuesday 21 May 2019 at 2.00 pm

The Lilla Huset Professional Centre, 191 Talgarth Road, W6 8BJ

Item Pages

1.  MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING 2 - 6
To agree the minutes of the previous meeting as a correct record. 

2.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

3.  DEDICATED SCHOOLS GRANT OUTTURN 2018-19 7 – 10

4.  DEDICATED SCHOOLS GRANT BUDGET 2019-20 UPDATE 11 – 16

5.  PROPOSED TOP-UP FUNDING INCREASE FOR JACK TIZARD 
SPECIAL SCHOOL FROM SEPTEMBER 2019 

17 – 22

6.  HIGH NEEDS BLOCK STRATEGY - VERBAL UPDATE AND 
DISCUSSION 

Verbal

7.  DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME 23

8.  ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

Contact: david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk

This agenda is available on the Council’s website: www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees

Date issued: 16 May 2019

mailto:
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees


_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

Schools Forum
Minutes

Tuesday 5 March 2019

PRESENT

Schools Forum Members
Gary Kynaston, Hammersmith Academy (Chair)
Daisy Armstrong, Avonmore (Governor)
Robert Jones, London Oratory
Sharon Robinson, John Betts (Governor)
Peter Smith, Jack Tizard
Jana Hassan, Harmony Nursery (PVI)
Caroline Plummer, Wormholt Park
Giles Finnemore, Brackenbury Primary
Tim Scott, Fulham College Boys
Michelle Barrett, Randolph Beresford EYC and Vanessa Nursery
Alan Campbell, Cambridge School
Jane Gleasure, Little People’s Nursey (PVI)
Clare Wagner, WLFS

LBHF Officers
Steve Miley, Director of Children’s Services
Kevin Gordon, Head of Assets, Operations and Planning
Mandy Lawson, Assistant Director of SEND
Satwinder Saraon, Head of SEND Development
Tony Burton, Finance Manager
David Abbott, Scrutiny Manager

Apologies were received from Wayne Leeming and Jan Parnell

1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 

The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting. Attendance is listed above.

The Chair noted that it was Robert Jones’s last meeting and thanked him for 
his hard work on the forum.

2. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING 

Matters arising
Item 3 - Members noted that Earl’s Court were no longer moving – they would 
be staying at the West London Free School site. Now that the arrangement 

Page 2

Agenda Item 1



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

was permanent they asked officers to clarify whether they would still receive 
separate lump sum payments. Tony Burton said that as long as the DfE 
considered them two separate schools they would receive separate lump 
sums.

Corrections
Members noted that apologies should have been noted from Jane Gleasure, 
Daisy Armstrong, and Sharon Robinson

RESOLVED
With the amendments noted above, the minutes of the previous meeting were 
agreed as a correct record.

3. COMMUNITY SCHOOLS PROGRAMME - APPROVAL OF SCHOOL 
RENEWAL STRATEGY AND PROCUREMENT OF INCLUSIVE DESIGN 
TEAM 

Kevin Gordon (Head of Assets, Operations and Planning) presented the 
report that set out the rationale for a self-funding programme to renew the 
borough’s primary school estate, creating fit-for-purpose 21st century schools. 
He noted Cabinet had agreed the programme of school renewal on 4 March 
2019.

Kevin Gordon informed members that the intention was to both rebuild 
schools to make them fit for the future – but also to generate additional 
receipts to invest back into the wider school economy (e.g. the high needs 
block). The programme would start with some maintained schools, but 
officers would also be speaking to Academies and other voluntary aided 
schools.

Members noted that in 4.6 there was a reference to the national Priority 
School Building Programme, which had benefited some of the schools in the 
borough. Members asked why officers didn’t expect any further investment 
from that programme? Kevin Gordon said there had been nothing for 
maintained schools in recent years – the money had been channelled into 
Academies.

Members asked if the DfE were looking at a national stock condition survey. 
Kevin Gordon said the DfE did do that – but it was used for their Treasury 
submission rather than an investment programme.

Kevin Gordon said he would be taking the proposals to the headteachers 
groups and lay out some of the opportunities to sit on the board and explain 
the governance structures for the programme.

4. SCHOOL STOCK CONDITION CAPITAL PROGRAMME UPDATE -  
PRESENTATION  TO BE TABLED 

Page 3



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

Kevin Gordon (Head of Assets, Operations and Planning) gave a presentation 
on the school stock conditional capital programme. He notes that 23 schools 
had been surveyed and £4.3m of works had been identified. In addition, there 
would be a further £600k for upgraded fire doors. Officers would be sharing 
the grading with all schools to ensure the process was transparent.

If there were any additional requests from schools, they would have to be 
considered within the same envelope. The Council wanted to keep the 
allocation process fair and equitable.

5. DEDICATED SCHOOLS GRANT BUDGET 2019/20 UPDATE 

Tony Burton (Head of Finance) presented the report that set out the allocation 
of the Dedicated Schools Grant for 2019/20. He noted that the DfE had 
formally approved the disapplication request and agreed the schools block 
budget for 2019/20.

The ESFA had queried the split-sites factor – they wanted H&F to fully 
regularise it before full implementation of the NFF in April 2020.

On Early Years, changes were recommended to Schools Forum – namely an 
increase in the CP CIN weighting and a contingency of £168k to manage the 
transition to the new model. In section 3.4 of the report there were two options 
for moving forward:

 Option A – the modelling as presented to Schools Forum on 15 
January 2019

 Option B – the modelling including the further 5 pence reduction in 
Deprivation hourly rates requested by Schools Forum at the meeting 
on 15 January 2019

A representative from the PVI sector said the deprivation funding helped them 
to provide facilities for children with greater need. The PVI sector took a 
considerable number of CP CIN and SEN children. In the south of the 
borough all CP CIN children were in the PVI sector. They said they’d like to 
see the figures for where the children with the most need were.

Tony Burton noted that in section 3.11 the report explained that the Council 
was looking at the process of assessment for CP CIN across the borough. 
That would give officers better information about the cohort and where needs 
were being met. Table 2 showed there would be £300k set aside for SEN 
inclusion available to all providers. There would be clarity by April as to how 
to access this money.

There was a recognition that the Council hadn’t been proactive enough 
getting inclusion funding out to all providers. Officers would be providing more 
support to PVIs, child minders etc.

The Chair asked for a one pager from the PVI sector including an overview of 
what they provide and the key issues for them.

Page 4



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

The Forum then discussed the two options for Early years funding and agreed 
Option B – but the Chair asked for a quality programme of support over the 
coming year that the PVI sector can access. Officers agreed and said 
Satwinder Saraon would help to coordinate that programme.

ACTION: Satwinder Saraon
RESOLVED

1. The Forum agreed Early Years Funding Option B – the modelling 
including a further 5 pence reduction in deprivation hourly rates as 
requested by Schools Forum at the meeting on 15 January 2019.

2. The Forum noted the planned use of Central Services DSG in Table 3 
of the report.

6. DEDICATED SCHOOLS GRANT MONITORING UPDATE 2018/19 

Tony Burton (Head of Finance) presented the report that set out the forecast 
variances in each of the blocks of the Dedicated Schools Grant in 2018/19. 
He noted that the unallocated falling rolls protection would carry forward to 
19/20. The maintained schools 150k de-delegated budget would also be 
carried forward.

Members asked if the schools applying for contingency funding had 
significant reserves. Tony burton said no but officers were working on budget 
planning with them to ensure they were sustainable for 2019/20.

The Chair asked Tony Burton to communicate the requests for schools in 
financial difficulty/contingency to schools to ensure the process was 
transparent and all had an opportunity to access it.

Tony Burton noted that St. Stevens had been expecting an outstanding 
payment from the Council in 17/18 that turned out to not be due. That error 
had tipped them into deficit and the Council wanted to support the school 
through that.

RESOLVED
The Forum agreed the requests for schools in financial difficulty/contingency 
(Table 2 of the report) in principle. The Chair asked that this was 
communicated to schools. A further paper was requested on this for the next 
meeting.

The Chair thanked Tony Burton and the finance team for their hard work.

7. HIGH NEEDS BOCK BUDGET UPDATE - ORAL UPDATE 

Steve Miley (Director for Children’s Services) addressed the forum and noted 
that Satwinder Saraon (SEND) had been appointed to lead the high needs 
block project work. Officers would be looking at how to make the education 
budgets work better for the sector and how to meet the needs of children 
without escalating to EHCP high levels of support. Officers would like to shift 

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

the focus to be more preventative where appropriate. He stressed that this 
was a challenge for the whole sector and wanted the Council to work closely 
with schools and other partners on a solution.

Gary Kynaston had been seconded to work on redesigning alternate provision 
to move towards a broader spectrum of support. Alan Campbell would also be 
helping with SEND services – looking at ways to make them more 
preventative, more upstream, to meet needs earlier.

A member noted that a key issue would be educating parents as they often, 
understandably, pushed for highest levels of support. Another member added 
that what was in the EHCP was problematic – what they stipulated was often 
unrealistic for schools to deliver. These issues should be addressed in annual 
reviews but rarely were. Also – given the demands – it was currently almost 
impossible to meet needs for children without plans. Steve Miley said this was 
where we needed to reshape services so there was something available at 
the lower level. In theory there was nothing that could be provided in an 
EHCP that couldn’t also be offered without one.

8. DRAFT WORK PROGRAMME (FOR INFORMATION) 

The work programme was presented for information.

14 May
- Draft of high needs block recovery plan.

Members asked that the meeting be moved to the following week (21 May) as 
the original date was in SATs week.

2 July
- Dedicated schools grant outturn
- A paper modelling the 2021 budget to start discussions

The Chair said he would like schools to feedback on the budget, MFG, and 
the direction of travel.

9. ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

There was no other business.

Meeting started: 2.00 pm
Meeting ended: 3.40 pm

Chair

Contact officer: David Abbott, LBHF Governance
david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk 

Page 6

mailto:david.abbott@lbhf.gov.uk


Page 1

Purpose of the report
This report updates Schools Forum on the 2018/19 final outturn position after updates to 
the allocation received in March 2019 from the Education and Skills Funding Agency 
(ESFA). It also includes the accumulated Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) carry forward 
position to 2019/20.

1. Introduction

1.1. This paper sets out the actual variances in each of the blocks of the 
Dedicated Schools Grant in 2018/19.

2. Schools Block

2.1. Underspends in the 2018/19 Schools Block are indicated in Table 1 below. 
These underspends on the Schools Block will be carried forward to 2019/20 
as funds for schools per the conditions of grant.

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

SCHOOLS FORUM

Tuesday, 21st May 2019

DEDICATED SCHOOLS GRANT OUTTURN 2018/19

Open

Wards Affected: (All Wards); All

Accountable Director:  Steve Miley, Director of Children Services

Report Authors:

Tony Burton   

Contact Details: 
Tel:  07909 004 710
E-mail: 
tony.burton@lbhf.gov.uk

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



Page 2

Table 1 - Schools Block Actual 2018/19
£m £m £m

Schools Block 2018/19 2018/19 
Budget

2018/19 
Actual

2018/19 
Variance

Schools Block delegated (after academy 
recoupment)

36.79 36.79 0

Falling Rolls Protection Fund   0.59   0.36 -0.23
Maintained schools de-delegated Budget   0.70   0.38 -0.32
Transfer to High Needs Block   0.51   0.51 0
Total underspend carried forward 38.59 38.04 -0.55

2.2. Schools Forum agreed in January 2019 to allocate the balance of the 
2018/19 falling rolls fund to schools in 2019/20. Of the £0.225m carry 
forward to 2019/20, Schools Forum have allocated £0.075m to schools most 
impacted by falling rolls between the October 2017 and October 2018 
census. The remaining falling roles fund of £0.15m in 2019/20 is yet to be 
allocated by Schools Forum.

2.3. The £0.325m underspend on the maintained schools de-delegated budget 
in 2018/19 will be carried forward to 2019/20 to support requests from 
maintained schools in financial difficulty and contingency.

2.4. A separate paper to be tabled at Schools Forum on 21st May 2019 will 
recommend use of maintained schools contingency funding for exceptional 
pupil moves from Lena Gardens School, as a result of the possible closure 
of the school by the Department for Education. Funding would be limited to 
maintained schools as funding would be from maintained school’s 
contingency budgets in 2019/20. In ordinary circumstances, there is no 
mechanism to transfer budgets between schools following pupil moves 
between census periods. However, the ESFA have indicated that in the 
event of a school closure, the ESFA might consider the reallocation of 
schools block budget share for the period following any closure.

3. Early Years Block

3.1. The Early Years Block overspent by £0.206m in 2018/19 as per Table 3 
below:

Table 3 – Early Years Block Actual 2018/19
£m £m £m
2018/19 
Budget

2018/19 
Actual

2018/19 
Variance

Early Years 2018/19 15.774 16.183 0.409
Offset by retained DSG Reserve for Early Years 0 -0.203 -0.203
Total deficit carried forward 15.774 15.980 0.206

3.1 The overspend reported is due mainly to the impact of fixed budget share 
allocations to schools for 3 and 4 year olds in 2018/19 rather than the 
participation model as used for Private, Voluntary and Independent 
nurseries (PVIs) and childminders. 

Page 8



Page 3

3.2. The in-year overspend on the Early Years block of the DSG was £0.409m. 
Retained Early Years funding was able to partially mitigate this in 2018/19. 
There are no further retained reserves for use in future years. The carried 
forward deficit of £0.206m will need to be recovered in 2019/20.

3.3. The Early Years census for January 2019 shows an improvement in the take 
up of the 30 hour offer for 3 and 4 year olds in maintained schools. The final 
allocations for 2018/19 will be adjusted to take account of this and will be 
notified in July 2019.

3.4. Initial calculations based on the January 2019 census indicate additional 
expected income for 2018/19 of up to £0.1m pending final confirmation from 
ESFA in July 2019. The additional income will be used to partly fund the 
deficit carried forward to 2019/20. 

 
4. Central Services Schools Block (CSSB)

4.1. The CSSB block outturn is set out in Table 4 below:

Table 4 – Central Services Schools Block Actual 2018/19
£m £m £m
2018/19 
Budget

2018/19 
Actual

2018/19 
Variance

Total CSSB 2018/19 4.430 4.162 -0.268
Copyright Licensing 0.097 0.096 -0.001
Asset Management, Place Planning and 
Strategic Operations 

0.816 0.827  0.011

Asset Management – capital expenditure on the 
school’s estate including windows replacement 

1.435 1.126 -0.309

Management, Support & Finance 1.087 1.208 0.121
Virtual School 0.276 0.276 0.00
Lilla Huset Professional Development Centre 0.200 0.122 -0.078
Admissions and ACE 0.519 0.507 -0.012
Total 4.430 4.430  0.000

4.2. The underspend of £0.268m indicated above has been allocated to offset 
high needs budget pressures in 2018/19.

5. High Needs Block

5.1. The High Needs Block outturn variance for 2018/19 was £7.13m over 
budget, however £0.268k of Central Services Block DSG was applied in 
year, with the residual £6.86m spend significantly more than the funding 
provided by the ESFA, as set out in Table 5 below. This has resulted in a 
cumulative deficit on the High Needs Block of £13.9m at 31 March 2019.

5.2. The Department of Education have requested that Local Authorities and 
Schools Forum agree a deficit recovery plan by 30 June 2019. This plan 

Page 9



Page 4

should detail actions taken to balance a deficit of more than 1% of total 
annual Dedicated Schools Grant within 3 years.

5.3. The High Needs Block outturn benefitted from the underspend on the CSSB 
as detailed in paragraph 4 above.

Table  5 – High Needs Block Outturn variance 2018/19
£m £m £m
2018/19 
Budget

2018/19 
Outturn

2018/19 
Variance

High Needs Block 2018/19 18.76 25.89 7.13
Place funding  4.53 4.33 -0.2
Top-up funding and placement costs 9.85 15.99 6.14
Alternative provision education, home tuition, 
hospital education and outreach 2.2 2.79 0.59

SALT and OT contracts 0.32 0.92 0.6
HNB Central services  1.86 1.86 0.00
Total expenditure 18.76 25.89 7.13
Total HNB 18.26 18.26 0.00
Transfer from Schools Block 0.51 0.51 0.00
Application in year Central Services Block 0 0.27 0.27

Report ends

Page 10



Page 1

Purpose of the report
This report updates Schools Forum on the 2019/20 Schools Budget process since 
Schools Forum in March 2019. 

1. Introduction

1.1. Table 1 below, aims to set out the change in the allocation of the Dedicated 
Schools Grant from 2017/18 to 2019/20.

Table 1 – DSG 2017/18 to 2019/20
DEDICATED SCHOOLS GRANT 2017/18

£m
2018/19

£m
2019/20

£m
Annual gross DSG allocation 140.27 143.15 **145.26

SCHOOLS BLOCK 104.50 101.37 102.88
Academy recoupment 62.22 62.78 63.95
Mainstream schools budget share 36.87 36.79 37.21
Mainstream schools de-delegated budgets 0.71 0.70 0.70
Central services 4.50 n/a n/a
Falling rolls fund 0.00 0.59 0.00
Growth fund 0.20 0.00 0.00
Transfer to High Needs block 0.00 0.51 1.00

CENTRAL SCHOOLS SERVICES BLOCK n/a 4.43 4.42
Retained for Central Block Services n/a 4.43 4.07
Transfer to High Needs block n/a 0.00 0.35

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

SCHOOLS FORUM

Tuesday, 21st May 2019

DEDICATED SCHOOLS GRANT BUDGET 2019/20 UPDATE

Open
Wards Affected: (All Wards); All

Accountable Director:  Steve Miley, Director of Children Services

Report Authors:

Tony Burton   

Contact Details: 
Tel:  07909 004 710
E-mail: 
tony.burton@lbhf.gov.uk

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



Page 2

DEDICATED SCHOOLS GRANT 2017/18
£m

2018/19
£m

2019/20
£m

EARLY YEARS BLOCK 15.69 15.77 15.77
Provisional allocation 17.80 19.52 15.77
DfE Adjustment 30-hour codes -2.11 -3.75 0.00

HIGH NEEDS BLOCK 20.07 21.58 **21.89
Places funded directly by the ESFA  3.71 3.32 2.33

Additional allocation in year 0.00 0.36 0.36
LA initial HNB DSG allocation 16.37 17.90 19.92
Additional funding transferred in:
Transfer from school’s block disapplication 0.00 0.51 1.00
Transfer from Central Schools Services 0.00 0.00 0.35
LA adjusted HNB DSG allocation 16.37  18.41 21.27

**Provisional allocations for HNB 2019/20 were updated in March 2019 and will be adjusted again in June 2019.

2. Schools Block 2019/20
 

2.1. The Schools Block Budget remains unchanged since March 2019 Schools 
Forum Paper.

2.2. The table below details the provisional allocation of one-off falling rolls 
protection as previously agreed. This will be funded by the underspend carried 
forward from 2018/19.

School Name 2019/20 £
Ark Swift Primary Academy 25,458
Fulham Primary 16,227
Old Oak Primary   8,858
Queen’s Manor School and Special Needs Unit   1,191
Fulham College Boys School 22,890
Total 74,624

2.3. Maintained schools are required to submit their budgets for 2019/20 by 31 May 
2019. Some schools have struggled to balance their budgets for 2019/20 and 
are concerned about their financial position over the next 3 years. Work has 
started on preparing the 2020/21 budget setting process for schools as follows:

 Assisting maintained schools in preparing 3 year balanced budgets 
based on latest information available.

 Taking account of feedback from schools with regards to the allocation 
of the schools block in 2020/21 and onwards.

Page 12



Page 3

 Updated NFF guidance and provisional allocations for 2020/21 
expected in late July 2019 providing the basis for discussion and 
approval in Autumn term.

3. Early Years National Funding Formula 2019/20

3.1. The March Schools Forum meeting approved a £6.20 Base Rate and 
Deprivation Rates based on IDACI banding 1 to 9 (£1.25 to £0.15 per hour) for 
three and four year olds. This has been implemented and all providers are being 
funded on the same basis. An estimate is paid at the beginning of term which 
is adjusted for actual participation based on the termly census in the 
subsequent term.

3.2. Schools have undertaken focussed work on ensuring that 30 hours eligibility for 
three and four year olds is identified and codes obtained by qualifying parents. 
The January 2019 census has shown an increase in the number of children 
who are entitled to 30 hours of funding which will benefit providers - the increase 
in uptake in maintained schools is almost 100%. This will increase both the 
early years funding and the amount of funding available for central services 
spend. 

3.3. The increased numbers of 3 and 4 year olds with 30 hour codes from the census 
will improve the final funding allocation for 2018/19 which will help fund the 
brought forward deficit of £206,000 at the start of 2019/20. Any balance of 
deficit will need to be funded from the 2019/20 contingency allocation.

3.4. The 2019/20 budget agreed in March 2019 included £600,000 for Child 
Protection (CP)/ Children in Need (CiN) based on current numbers and uptake. 
The majority of this funding will be allocated to Maintained Nurseries but 
£80,000 is earmarked for Private, Voluntary and Independent nurseries (PVIs) 
and childminders who currently provide additional hours for vulnerable children. 
This will be part of the central services spend as required by DFE regulations.

3.5. The Early Years funding allocations are based on the relevant January census’ 
with the year being divided into 2 parts

 April 2019 allocations – August 2019 based on January 2019 census 
and

 September 2019 allocations – March 2020 based on January 2020 
census.

The final allocation for 2019/20 will not be notified until July 2020 and the initial 
budget for 2020/21 will be calculated using the January 2019 census figures. 

4. Central School Services Block 2019/20

4.1. Central School Services Block (CSSB) budgets are unchanged from those 
agreed in the March 2019 Schools Forum. We await updated guidance from 

Page 13



Page 4

the EFSA regarding future changes to this element of the DSG and will update 
Schools Forum in the Autumn Term 2019.

4.2. The application of CSSB in 2019/20 is detailed in table 3 below:

Table 3 – CSSB Budget 2018/19 and 2019/20 
Area of Expenditure 2018/19

£m
2019/20 
£m

Change
£m

Comments

Copyright Licensing 0.097 0.097 0.0 No change
Asset Management, 
Place Planning and 
Strategic Operations

0.816 0.604 -0.212 Contract efficiency and 
sovereign in-house 
provision

Asset Management – 
capital expenditure on 
the school’s estate 
including windows 
replacement

1.435 1.435 0.0 No change

Management, Support 
& Finance

1.087 0.931 -0.156 Efficiencies of move to 
sovereign service

Virtual School 0.276 0.282 0.006 2% inflation uplift
Lilla Huset 
Professional 
Development Centre

0.200 0.200 0.0 No change

Admissions and ACE 0.519 0.516 -0.003 Reduction in cost through 
rebaseline

Transfer to High 
Needs

0 0.350 0.350 Transfer from CSSB to 
support High Needs

Total 4.430 4.415 -0.015

5. High Needs Block 2019/20

5.1. The 2018/19 shortfall against the High Needs block was £6.86m, increasing the 
brought forward deficit to £13.9m. The cumulative DSG deficit at the end of 
2018/19, represents 9.6% of our gross DSG allocation before academy 
recoupment.

5.2. In July 2018 the ESFA announced that any local authority that finds itself with 
a cumulative DSG deficit of over 1% of its gross DSG will have to submit a 
recovery plan to the ESFA by 30 June 2019.  The recovery plan must set out 
clearly how the local authority plans to bring the overall DSG account into 
balance, within a maximum of three years. The recovery plan should be 
discussed and, if possible, agreed with the school’s forum, and will require CFO 
sign off prior to submission to the Department for Education. We have received 
further guidance on the process and format for submitting the recovery plan 
and officers are working towards completing this, with a view to present it for 
sign off, to the next school’s forum on 2 July 2019, prior to submission to the 
ESFA. 

Page 14



Page 5

5.3. Hammersmith and Fulham are working to support Schools Forum and the 
education community around the next phase of proposals to balance the high 
needs block position over the medium term. It should be noted that 
Hammersmith and Fulham Council receive no additional funding for education 
outside of the Dedicated Schools Grant. The current retained DSG deficit is 
being offset by council reserves pending a recovery plan and a balanced 
position across all schools funding streams. The Schools Regeneration 
Scheme proposals being developed may provide an opportunity to partially 
mitigate the current and future retained deficit in the longer term.

5.4. The ESFA updated the 2019/20 provisional high needs allocation in March 
2019. The allocation will again be updated in June 2019 to show the 
import/export allocation to the borough for non-resident pupils in our schools. 

5.5. The provisional allocation from the ESFA for the High Needs Block is £22.251m 
before academy recoupment. This is an increase of just under £0.5m, which is 
made up of an additional allocation of £0.358m from the ESFA (confirmed for 
2018/19 and 2019/20 only) and in increase of £0.14m for increased numbers 
on roll at our special schools. The final HNB allocation for 2019/20, should be 
confirmed by end of June 2019.

5.6. After taking into account £1m of funding from the School’s block, £350,000 from 
the Central Services block and changes to academy recoupment by the ESFA, 
the LA has £21.29m of HNB income available in 2019/20.

5.7. Current estimates on spend includes part delivery of the Phase 1 of the 
recovery plan proposals that have previously been reported to school’s forum.  
We are expecting a deficit outturn position of at least £4.6m against the HNB 
by the end of 2019/20, before any additional mitigations have been delivered 
through the High Needs block change programme and before year on year 
growth.

5.8. Table 4 provides a summary of the forecast 2019/20 HNB income and 
expenditure and outturn position.

Page 15



Page 6

Table 4 – Planned High Needs spend 2019/20 
    
  HNB outturn

2018/19
£m

2019/20 
£m

Change
£m

Comments

Place funding 4.33 4.35 0.02
Top-up funding and 
placement costs

15.99 15.24 -0.75 One off expenditure in 
18/19 that will not be 
repeated.  No growth 
assumed at this stage. 

Alternative provision 
education, home tuition, 
hospital education and 
outreach

2.79 3.14 0.35 Forecast adjusted - now 
in line with 18/19 
outturn 

SALT and OT contracts 0.93 1.26 0.33 Increased SALT 
contract value 

HNB Central services 1.59 1.86 0.27 Salary inflation 
Total expenditure 25.62 25.85 0.23
HNB (net) allocation -17.9 -19.56 -1.66 Growth in pupil 

numbers has increased 
the allocation and 
academy recoupment 
has reduced.

In-year allocation notified 
in 2018/19 for 2 years

-0.36 -0.36 0.00 Funding confirmed for 2 
years ending 31/03/20

Transfer from SB -0.51 -1.00 -0.49
Transfer from CSSB 0.00 -0.35 -0.35
Total income -18.76 -21.27 -2.51
FORECAST OUTTURN 
(overspend)

6.86 4.58 -2.28

Report ends

Page 16



Page 1

Purpose of the report
This report aims to inform Schools Forum on the 2018/19 outturn and forecast 2019/20 
position for Jack Tizard Special School, with a view to recommending and agreeing a 
request to increase top-up rates for pupils currently attending the special school, within 
the context of the current deficit position on the High Needs Block of the Dedicated 
Schools Grant. 

1. Introduction

1.1. This paper sets out the actual 2018/19 and forecast 2019/20 variances for 
Jack Tizard Special School.  It also aims to set out the circumstances which 
makes it particularly challenging for the school to set a balanced budget in 
2019/20 and beyond. Council officers have been working closely with the 
school since the Summer term 2018 to understand and verify the school’s 
budgets and forecasts and to explore plans to reasonably ensure a 
sustainable financial position over the medium term, whilst ensuring value for 
money and efficiency.

1.2. Table 1 summarises our joint understanding of the school’s current and future 
financial situation:

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

SCHOOLS FORUM

Tuesday, 21st May 2019

PROPOSED TOP-UP RATE INCREASE FOR JACK TIZARD SCHOOL FROM 
SEPTEMBER 2019

Open

Wards Affected: (All Wards); All

Accountable Director:  Steve Miley, Director of Children Services

Report Authors:

Tony Burton
Head of Finance for Children’s Services and 
Education

Contact Details: 
Tel:  07909 004 710
E-mail: tony.burton@lbhf.gov.uk

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



Page 2

Table 1 – Jack Tizard medium term budget position

Jack Tizard 1718 
OUTTURN

1819 
OUTTURN

1920 
BUDGET 2021 BUDGET 2122 BUDGET

Balance brought 
forward 

(surplus)/deficit

(197,060) (143,670) (126,604) 301,639 813,933

Income (2,755,399) (2,878,889) (2,721,783) (2,721,783) (2,721,783)

Expenditure 2,808,788 2,895,955 3,150,026 3,234,077 3,305,145

In Year (Surplus)/ 
Deficit

53,390 17,066 428,243 512,294 583,362

Reserve carried 
forward

(143,670) (126,604) 301,639 813,933 1,397,295

Surplus Surplus Deficit Deficit Deficit

1.3. The current budget position is unsustainable with top-up funding paid to the 
school insufficient to meet the costs associated with catering for the level of 
need in the school.

1.4. Special schools are principally funded through a combination of place funding 
for core operational costs and top-up funding to meet the educational needs of 
the individual children placed in the provision. Place funding at Jack Tizard is 
limited to £0.7m or £10,000 per place. The options open to the school to achieve 
a balanced budget are set out below:

 Agree an increase in top-up funding from the pupils’ placing local 
authority (note circa 47 out of 68 pupils at Jack Tizard are 
Hammersmith and Fulham resident pupils).

 Further and ongoing expenditure efficiencies.
 Exploration of income opportunities.

1.5. Jack Tizard school has a rolling programme of review to achieve efficiencies 
and external income generation. This work will continue as Jack Tizard School 
and indeed all schools try to manage future cost inflation from 2020/21.

1.6. There is an agreed and shared view between the school’s senior management 
team, governors and council officers that the underlying structural budget issue 
can only be addressed by revising top-ups for children and young people placed 
in Jack Tizard school to an appropriate level to meet their educational needs.

2. Financial context

2.1. Following the move to the Hammersmith and Fulham sovereign service, the 
Education Finance Team undertook a reconciliation of expenditure since 
2017/18 and to understand the contributing factors to the HNB deficit budget as 
a whole (currently a cumulative deficit of £13.9m at the end of 2018/19).  As 
part of this exercise, it came to light that Jack Tizard was over funded on the 
number of places commissioned in 2017/18 and 2018/19 financial years.

Page 18



Page 3

2.2. The school is commissioned to deliver 70 places and receive £0.7m place 
funding at the start of each financial year in April. However, in 2017/18 the 
school received duplicated place funding for 12 pupils. High Needs Block place 
funding was paid in advance for the financial year and was then duplicated by 
monthly Post 16 grant payments. The error was identified early in 18/19 as the 
new Education Finance Team reconciled receipts for the ESFA, however this 
funding was not clawed back from the school, as they had set a budget based 
on the assumption this income would be received for both 2017/18 and 
2018/19.   It is clear however that the school already had a structural budget 
deficit by 2017/18 which was masked by an overpayment of place funding and 
the school’s use of significant retained reserves over several years

2.3. The staff team at Jack Tizard Special School is highly experienced and staff 
retention levels are exceptionally high - the value this brings to the care and 
education offered to pupils with complex needs is widely understood.  This has 
placed a significant additional financial pressure on the school due to recent 
salary increases for teachers (not fully funded by the ESFA) and re-banding of 
teacher support staff grades, which the school has not been able to absorb 
within its current funding envelope or mitigate through staff turnover.

 
2.4. The opportunity for Jack Tizard to increase pupil numbers in order to generate 

additional income is limited by the physical space constraints of the building the 
school is based in. The complexity of need and size of specialist equipment 
needed by pupils means the school increasingly faces a challenge to 
accommodate more than 68 pupils at any point in time, despite being 
commissioned for 70 places. This contrasts with other special schools which 
have been able to increase pupil numbers in order to benefit from economies 
of scale.

2.5. Income generation opportunities have been identified and these will be 
explored over the coming months.  Two examples include renting out the 
school’s hydro-pool or providing specialist training to mainstream schools on 
certain key SEN subjects.  These would provide smaller income streams for the 
school to help offset future inflationary increases and to remain within budgets 
moving forwards.  

2.6. The top-up rates at the school have not been reviewed since 2013 and are 
currently set at £24,482 per pupil per annum, irrespective of level of need.  For 
more complex needs requiring one to one support, additional funding has to be 
negotiated with the placing authority. The reality, however, is that the income 
generated by the school from place funding and through top-up funding, does 
not cover the full cost of resource needed to meet the needs of a cohort of 
pupils with ever increasing levels of complex needs.

3. Changing Cohort and Increasingly Complex Need

Page 19



Page 4

3.1. The growing complexity of health and learning needs means that pupils at Jack 
Tizard School require an increasingly high ratio of supervision. Some examples 
include pupils who: 

 have serious health concerns, including epilepsy/tracheostomies, 
chronic breathing problems and serious allergies and those who require 
immediate rescue medication

 require frequent suctioning and oxygen to keep their airways clear
 are at risk of absconding
 have minimal or no awareness of danger
 are at constant risk of choking because they will attempt to put 

inappropriate objects in their mouth 
 find moving from one part of the building to another very difficult and 

distressing
 are unable to engage/participate in learning without adult 

prompts/attention either because of behavioural needs or multi-sensory 
impairments

 have behaviours that challenge and who pose a significant physical risk 
to themselves and others

 that require a fully personalised curriculum

3.2. A very high and increasing number of pupils at Jack Tizard have been 
diagnosed with dysphagia and require significant modifications to their food. 
The categories include soft and bite sized, minced and moist, pureed and 
liquidised. Additional adaptations may be required within each category for 
individual pupils. Without such adaptations a pupil with dysphagia is at risk of 
chest infections and, ultimately, aspirational pneumonia which can be fatal. 
This means that the school requires additional kitchen staff to cope with the 
modifications and a very high level of staff to support the pupils with their food 
and drink management. In 2018 the school could not afford to replace Midday 
Meals Assistants and the Headteacher and Deputy Headteacher now 
undertake daily lunch duties.   

Page 20



Page 5

3.3. 78% of pupils rely on non-verbal means of communication. The cost of 
augmentative and alternative communication devices such as voice activated 
communication aids and switches is increasing, as is the cost of training staff 
in this area. 

3.4. The changing cohort at Jack Tizard is demonstrated by the graph above. An 
increasing number of pupils are doubly incontinent, are fed enterally, have 
complex health needs, life limiting conditions and mobility needs. This means 
the school requires a high number of highly skilled staff, again leading to 
significant increases in costs. 

3.5. There is an ongoing recruitment/retention issue in relation to Teaching 
Assistants (TAs). Benchmarking shows that they earn less than their 
counterparts in other schools. Agency costs are much higher than the cost of 
the daily rate of a permanent member of staff. Exit interviews are used to 
ascertain the reasons for Teaching Assistants leaving. It is clear from recent 
exit interviews and discussions that main factor is pay. The majority of 
Teaching Assistants are employed on the lowest possible scale (3) for 30 
hours a week (which is fewer hours than other local special schools) so there 
is no scope to secure efficiencies by reducing TA hours. 
 

3.6. In contrast to this, the rate of attrition for teaching staff is minimal; none of the 
17 teaching staff (9 of whom are on the upper pay range and 2 on the 
leadership scale) have left the school in the last three years. The average 
length of service for the current teaching staff is over ten years. Whilst this 
brings a wealth of skills, experiences and outstanding practitioners who have 
whole school impact, it also means that any uplifts are substantial.  

4. Impact of increasing top-up rates  

4.1. The current structural deficit of the school is £0.428m per annum (at 2019/20 
prices), including a £0.05m contingency fund that will support the school with 
additional teaching assistant recruitment costs and to manage the risk to top-
up from the school not being at full capacity.

4.2. The top-up rates would have to increase by £6,475 to £30,957 per annum for 
both LBHF and non LBHF resident pupils. The impact on Hammersmith and 
Fulham’s High needs block from this change is detailed below in table 2. The 
impact of the High Needs Block forecast outturn in 2019/20 is included in the 
estimated overspend figure reported in the 2019/20 Schools Budget paper 
under item 2, table 4.

Page 21



Page 6

Table 2: Jack Tizard School - Impact of Top-up Increase from September 2019
Top-up Increase of £6,475 per pupil from September 2019
LBHF Impact on 47 out of 70 places for Hammersmith and Fulham resident pupils

6,475

FTE
2019/20
(Sept-Mar)

2020/21
(Apr to Mar)

£
Cost to Hammersmith & Fulham High Needs Block 47 202,880 304,320
Cost to Out of Borough Resident Pupil Local Authorities 21 90,649 135,973
Additional Top-up for additional 2 places to commissioned numbers 2 8,633 12,950
Projected Increase in Top-up Income to Jack Tizard 70 302,162 453,243

4.3. Top-up funding for non-resident pupils, including any increases, will be fully 
recovered from home authorities on behalf of Jack Tizard school.  The earliest 
likely implementation date would be Autumn term 19, as other LAs would have 
to be informed of any likely increases following Schools Forum decision.  

4.4. It is proposed that the over payment of £240,000 to Jack Tizard in both 17/18 
and 18/19 is not recovered, in the run up to implementation of increased top up 
rates in Autumn 19. The additional funding is included in the school’s assumed 
opening reserves position of £126,000, at the start of 2019/20.  

5. School’s Forum agreement   

5.1. Schools Forum is asked to consider and confirm agreement to a top-up funding 
rate increase of £6,475 for Jack Tizard Special School, which will take annual 
top-up rates to £30,957. This will be implemented from Autumn 19 onwards. 

5.2. Schools forum are asked to agree to the non-recovery of £240,000 of place 
funding (2017/18 and 2018/19) ahead of increases to top-up rates in Autumn 
19.

 

END OF REPORT
  

 

Page 22



Schools Forum – Draft Work Programme 2019

Note: Dates and items to be confirmed

Tuesday 2nd July 2019 2pm, Lilla Huset
 School Funding Arrangements 2020/21
 High Needs Strategy Update
 Scheme for Financing Schools – Review of Revisions agreed at Forum

20/11/18
 Schools Organisation Strategy (TBC)

Tuesday 8th October 2019 2pm, Lilla Huset
 Schools Budget 2019/20 Monitoring
 Schools Block Budget 2020/21 – Draft Authority Proforma Tool for 

Consultation
 Schools Budget 2020/21 Consultation Draft
 Annual Audit Update

Tuesday 10th December 2019 2pm, Lilla Huset
 High Needs Strategy Update
 Schools Budget 2020/21 Update
 Central Services Budgets

Tuesday 14th January 2020 2pm (TBC)
 Schools Budget 2019/20 Monitoring
 Schools Budget 2020/21 Update
 Schools Block Budget 2020/21 – Final Authority Proforma Tool
 Scheme for Financing Schools Revisions

March (TBC)

Page 23

Agenda Item 7


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the last meeting
	3 Dedicated Schools Grant Outturn 2018-19
	4 Dedicated Schools Grant Budget 2019-20 Update
	5 Proposed top-up funding increase for Jack Tizard Special School from September 2019
	7 Draft Work Programme

